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FOREWORD

BECAUSE I AM AN INDIGENOUS woman, I am six times more likely to be murdered than my non-Indigenous sisters. I am considered high risk just by virtue of being Indigenous and female. This is my reality. I am a statistic. Jessica McDiarmid’s book brings life and a face to the statistics. The girls and women whose stories are presented in this book were someone’s daughter, sister, mother, aunt, grandmother, friend, etcetera, and they were loved and important. They are still loved and important, but now they are also missed.

Over many years, I have worked locally, regionally, nationally and internationally to raise awareness of the issue of missing and murdered Indigenous women in Canada. I have done so because this issue is personal: my first cousin, a most treasured young woman, was lost along Highway 16 in British Columbia. Ramona Wilson went missing in 1994, and her remains were found a year later. Ramona was not only beautiful, she was smart, tenacious and had an effervescent personality—she was going places. She was loved. The pride my aunty Matilda and her siblings felt for her radiates from them every time they speak about her. The abrupt end of her life at the tender age of sixteen left an indelible mark on the heart of our family.

This book is a timely reminder that those who fail to learn from history are doomed to repeat it. Jessica paints a clear picture of the political and social climate in which many young women went missing along Highway 16. It was a time of political unrest due to the perceived threat of losses of jobs, properties and resources that would result from treaties with First Nations governments. There was an influx of workers into the resource sector, increasing the number of male-dominated camps. There was a lack of transportation options and a lack of essential health, social and education services.

In the north today we are facing the same factors that leave Indigenous women and girls vulnerable. There is friction between Indigenous and non-Indigenous northerners due to conflicting opinions on resource extraction. The planned liquefied natural gas plant in Kitimat and other resource extraction projects will see an increase in work camps, and the lack of services and access to those services is ongoing. Although a transportation plan developed for northern British Columbia has provided limited bus services along the Highway 16 corridor, Greyhound no longer offers bus service in the province.

In 2006, Carrier Sekani Family Services and Lheidli T’enneh hosted the Highway of Tears Symposium for approximately 700 participants. It was the start of a collaborative effort between every level of government, Indigenous communities, families of the victims and service providers to meet, engage and discuss. The symposium yielded a report with thirty-three recommendations toward solutions to the systemic, historic and ongoing problems confronted by people living along the highway. From those recommendations, the Highway of Tears governing body, composed of family members of the victims, government and service organizations representatives, was established, and the Highway of Tears (HOT) Initiative was born. The HOT Initiative would coordinate and oversee the implementation of the HOT recommendations. It was my honour to chair the HOT governing body and guide the work of the initiative through the Carrier Sekani Family Services.

When Jessica approached me about her desire to write a book on the Highway of Tears, I brought forward her request to the governing body, which supported and endorsed her work. After her years working in Africa for human rights and writing for the Toronto Star, Jessica returned home to the north to provide her in-depth perspective on the Highway of Tears. Jessica has put her blood, sweat and tears into this book, evident by her countless hours of research and interviews. Truly, she has given justice to a very sensitive and complex issue.

I am thankful that Jessica has so succinctly and thoroughly documented the history of the Highway of Tears and that the stories of our girls and women will never be forgotten. I am thankful that the work, energy and spirit that has gone into raising awareness of our missing and murdered girls and women is captured in the telling of our story. In Jessica’s words, “Ramona has been here all these years: in the courage in her mother’s eyes, the strength in her sister’s voice, in all the work they’ve done.” We have much work still to do.

This book is a tribute to all our warriors who demand justice for those who no longer have a voice. Through her words, Jessica McDiarmid has lent her voice in the fight for justice for those we can no longer hear. In the telling of the story of the Highway of Tears, Jessica has become one of us warriors. For this, my family will be forever grateful.

—Mary Teegee

Maaxsw Gibuu (White Wolf)

Executive Director,

Child and Family Services,

Carrier Sekani Family Servcies

Chair, B.C. Delegated Indigenous Agencies

President, B.C. Aboriginal Childcare Society






INTRODUCTION THE HIGHWAY OF TEARS


THE HIGHWAY OF TEARS is a lonesome road that runs across a lonesome land. This dark slab of asphalt cuts a narrow path through the vast wilderness of the place, where struggling hayfields melt into dark pine forests, and the rolling fields of the Interior careen into jagged coastal mountains. It’s sparsely populated, with many kilometres separating the small towns strung along it, communities forever grappling with the booms and busts of the industries that sustain them. At night, many minutes may pass between vehicles, mostly tractor-trailers on long-haul voyages between the coast and some place farther south. And there is the train that passes in the night, late, its whistle echoing through the valleys long after it is gone.

Prince George lies in a bowl etched by glaciers over thousands of years on the Nechako Plateau, near the middle of what is now called British Columbia, at the place where the Nechako and Fraser Rivers meet. It is a small city, as cities go, but with a population of about eighty thousand, it is by far the largest along the highway, a once prosperous lumber town that fell on hard times. Hunkered under towering sand bluffs carved by the rivers, the once bustling downtown is quieter these days, though a push for economic diversification has, in the past few years, brought in a new wave of boutique shops, pubs and upscale eateries.

From the city, the highway runs northwest, passing ranches with sagging barbed-wire fences and billboards advertising farm supply stores and tow truck companies. It winds down from the plateau toward the coast, through ever-narrower valleys where cedar and Sitka spruce and hemlock rise from beds of moss and ferns to form a near canopy. As the skies sink lower, the mountains loom higher. The air grows heavier as the highway draws closer to the Pacific, clinging to a ledge above the Skeena River blasted from the mountainsides to make way for trains and trucks, where the margin of error is only a few feet in either direction. Those who err are often gone forever, lost to a river that swallows logging trucks and fishing boats alike. Those who disappear in this place are not easily found.

The towns owe their existence to the railway that carved a path from the Rocky Mountains to Prince Rupert just over a hundred years ago, propelled by fears in Ottawa of an American invasion and hopes of selling prairie grain to Asia from a port on the northern Pacific. The last spike of the Grand Trunk Pacific Railway went into the ground April 7, 1914, just a few months before Europe erupted into the First World War. Settlements grew along the railway as livelihoods were wrested from farms forever beset by late springs and early frosts, from towering forests that carpeted the hills and from mines from which men chipped out silver, copper and gold to load onto boxcars going somewhere else.

But before these towns named for railway men, fur traders and settlers, there were other communities here. People inhabited this land long before history was recorded in any European sense. Before the Egyptians erected the pyramids, before the Maya began to write and study the sky, before the Mesopotamians built the first cities, Indigenous people lived in this place. Only about two hundred years ago did Europeans arrive in the Pacific Northwest, seeking sea otter, gold and, later, lumber. Soon, the nascent government of Canada would claim the territory as its own and seek to assimilate or destroy those who had been here for so long. Settlers arrived on foot and in canoes, then on railcars and steamboats, and then on the highway. By the early 1950s, a road connected Prince Rupert to Prince George, though it was little more than a gravel strip in places and often rendered impassable by snowfall, avalanches and landslides. Soon, Highway 16 was extended across the Rockies to connect the northwest of British Columbia to Edmonton and beyond, opening this vast region to the rest of the country. The road was dubbed the Yellowhead after the Iroquois-Metis fur trader Pierre Bostonais, known as Tête Jaune for his shock of bright yellow hair. And so it remained, until what it brought earned it a new name: the Highway of Tears.



No one knows who the first Indigenous girl or woman to vanish along the highway between Prince Rupert and Prince George was, or when it happened. Nor does anyone know how many have gone missing or been murdered since. In more recent years, grassroots activists, many of whom are family members of missing and murdered Indigenous girls and women, have travelled from community to community to collect the names of those lost. Their lists suggest numbers far higher than those that make their way into most media reports, but they are still incomplete—people who have been gathering names for many years continue to hear about cases they were unaware of.

The RCMP has put the number of missing and murdered Indigenous women in Canada at about 1,200, with about a thousand of those being victims of homicide. The actual number is likely higher; the Native Women’s Association of Canada, or NWAC, and other advocacy groups have estimated it could be as high as four thousand. And although the RCMP reported that the proportion of homicide cases that were solved was about the same for Indigenous and non-Indigenous women and girls—88 and 89 per cent respectively—NWAC research into 582 cases suggested that 40 per cent of murders remained unsolved.

According to the RCMP, a third of the 225 unsolved cases nationwide were in British Columbia, with thirty-six homicides and forty unresolved missing person cases, more than twice the next-highest province, Alberta. The entirety of northern British Columbia is home to only about 250,000 people, or about 6 per cent of the province’s population. Around the Highway of Tears alone, a region that is just a fraction of northern B.C., at least five Indigenous women and girls went missing during the time period covered by RCMP statistics—more than 12 per cent of the provincial total. And, in addition to the missing, there are at least five unsolved murders, or about 14 per cent.

The Highway of Tears is a 725-kilometre stretch of highway in British Columbia. And it is a microcosm of a national tragedy—and travesty. Indigenous people in this country are far more likely to face violence than any other segment of the population. A 2014 Statistics Canada report found Indigenous people face double the rate of violence of non-Indigenous people. Indigenous women and girls, in particular, are targets. They are six times more likely to be killed than non-Indigenous women. They face a rate of serious violence twice as high as that of Indigenous men and nearly triple that of non-Indigenous women. This is partly because they are more likely to confront risk factors such as mental illness, homelessness and poverty, which afflict Indigenous people at vastly disproportionate rates—the ugly, deadly effects of colonialism past and present. But even when controlling for those factors, Indigenous women and girls face more violence than anyone else. Put simply, they are in greater danger solely because they were born Indigenous and female. As one long-time activist put it, “Every time we walk out our doors, it’s high risk.”

Across Canada, as across the Highway of Tears, no one has counted the dead. But whatever the number, too often forgotten is that behind every single death or disappearance is a human being and those who love them, a web of family and community and friendship, those bonds we form that make us strong; those bonds that, when broken, tear us apart.



I was ten years old the first time I saw Ramona Wilson. A photo of her, smiling, black hair cloaking her left shoulder, was printed on sheets of eight-by-eleven paper and hung up around Smithers, the B.C. town where we both grew up. Over the picture was a banner that read: “MISSING.” Under it was a description: “16 years old, native, 5 foot 1, 120 pounds, last seen June 11, 1994.” The posters plastered telephone poles and gas station doors and grocery store bulletin boards throughout town and the surrounding areas for months. But in April the following year, the posters were taken down. She was gone.

I would learn later that Ramona wasn’t the only First Nations girl or young woman to vanish from the area. In 1989, it was Alberta Williams and Cecilia Anne Nikal. The following year, Cecilia’s fifteen-year-old cousin Delphine Nikal disappeared. In 1994, the same year Ramona didn’t come home, Roxanne Thiara and Alishia Germaine were murdered, their bodies later found near the highway. In 1995, Lana Derrick went missing. The posters went up, and they came down, but not because the girls got home alive.

There wasn’t a great fuss about these missing and murdered girls. “Just another native” is how mothers and sisters and aunties describe the pervasive attitude. Police officers gave terrified, grieving families the distinct impression that they didn’t care and didn’t try very hard. Nor did the public rally to the cause in large numbers with donations for reward money or attendance at vigils, searches or walks. Families were often left to search, raise funds, investigate and mourn alone. It was not unusual in the 1990s to hear comments about the “error” a girl must have committed to encounter such a fate, whether it was hitchhiking, prostitution, drinking or walking alone at night. It is still not uncommon. Too often, these deaths and disappearances are seen as the result of the victim’s wrongdoing rather than as what they truly are: an ongoing societal failure. Many of the girls who vanished here were not hitchhiking, nor were they sex workers, nor were they doing anything much different than many other young people. But to many of the people living in predominantly white communities, it seemed as though disappearing off the face of the earth was something that happened to other people. And it was, because this is a country where Ramona Wilson was six times more likely to be murdered than me.

I left northwestern British Columbia in my late teens and never planned to return, aside from the odd week or two to visit family. I reported from across the country and overseas, focusing when I could on human rights abuses and social injustice—that was what I cared about, what I wanted to shed light upon, in hopes of playing some small role in fixing it. Over those years, I watched as women and girls in northwestern B.C. continued to disappear—Nicole Hoar, Tamara Chipman, Aielah Saric-Auger, Bonnie Joseph, Mackie Basil—and long felt that I needed to come home to this story. The first time I spoke with local family members who have become some of the strongest advocates—quite literally, national game changers—for missing and murdered Indigenous women and girls was in 2009. But it wasn’t for another seven years that circumstances aligned and I returned home to research and write this book.

In June of 2016, not long after I arrived back in Smithers, I had the honour of walking the Highway of Tears with Brenda Wilson, Ramona’s sister; Angeline Chalifoux, the auntie of fourteen-year-old Aielah Saric-Auger; and Val Bolton, Brenda’s dear friend, along with dozens of family members and supporters who joined them for part of the way. Called the Cleansing the Highway Walk, it marked the ten-year anniversary of the first Highway of Tears walk. At the end of it, when we arrived in Prince George after three weeks of leapfrogging down the highway’s length from Prince Rupert, Angeline stood on a stage alongside Brenda and Val. It was June 21, National Aboriginal Day, and hundreds of people had turned out to celebrate at Lheidli T’enneh Memorial Park on the banks of the Fraser River. Angeline told Aielah’s story, and then she read to the crowd her favourite quote, from Martin Luther King Jr. “He who passively accepts evil is as much involved in it as he who helps to perpetrate it,” she read out. “He who accepts evil without protesting against it is really cooperating with it.”

Not nearly enough people gave a damn when these girls and women went missing. We did not protect them. We failed them. The police haven’t solved these cases, but there are multiple perpetrators. There are those who committed these crimes, and there are all of us who stood by as it happened, and happened again, and happened again. And while we cannot undo what has been done, we can try to understand how this happened, where we went wrong. We can address the myriad factors that make Indigenous women and girls vulnerable. We can make sure it does not happen again. And we can remember them, these young women with all their dreams and troubles and hopes and cares, who should still be here today. I owe them this. We all do.
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A BRIGHT LIGHT

MATILDA WILSON STOOD on a gravel road. A couple dozen people made a rough circle around her under the high, weak sun that June day in 2012. The crowd had lowered the placards they’d carried for a couple of kilometres down Highway 16 to the foot of Yelich Road, cardboard signs that read “Take back the highway” and “Killer on the loose!” They watched Matilda’s bowed head in silence as cars and trucks and tractor-trailers roared past. Matilda’s eldest child, Brenda, kept a hand on her back as smoke from smouldering sweetgrass, sage and other traditional medicine wafted across her face and rose westward toward the Pacific Ocean. Finally, Matilda raised weary, shining eyes and said that she was lucky; she was lucky because at least she knew.

What she knew was that her youngest child would never come home.

Ramona Lisa Wilson was born in the Bulkley Valley District Hospital in Smithers, B.C., a town of about five thousand people halfway between Prince George and Prince Rupert. It was a dreary, cold winter day, fog shrouding the wide valley in which the town lies. The hospital was drearier still, a concrete mound atop a gentle rise between the downtown business district and the Bulkley River. But Ramona was a light, even before she entered this world on February 15, 1978.

After Matilda gave birth to her fifth child seven years earlier, doctors had said she could never have another. It had been a disappointment to Matilda’s eldest, Brenda, who, as the only girl in the family, desperately wanted a little sister. But Matilda accepted it: she was finished with babies. Then, in the summer of 1977, thinking she had the flu, she went to the doctor and learned she was two months pregnant. She was stunned. “Maybe it’s a gift,” she told Ramona’s equally shocked father. She told Brenda to pray for the baby sister she’d always wanted.

On February 14, 1978, contractions started. Matilda smiled at the thought of a Valentine’s Day baby, but it wasn’t until about five the next morning that she needed to head for the hospital. Soon after, Ramona was born. The nurses passed her to Matilda, who felt her baby’s wavy hair and kissed her tiny fingers and tiny nose and admired her eyes, so light coloured they were almost blue, though they would soon turn hazel. She said to Ramona’s father, “You better go tell Brenda. Get to the phone and tell her that she’s got a baby sister.” It wasn’t long before the family rushed into the room, Brenda in the lead.

At home, the family took turns holding Ramona, feeding her, caring for her. The house changed when the baby came in the door. It got louder, happier. Each year on her birthday, they threw a big party. As she grew, her brothers doted on her, carrying her wherever she wanted to go, treating her like a little princess. Brenda had moved out and was starting her own family, so it was her brothers Ramona cajoled into coming to her tea parties and letting her style their hair. She was a jokester. “Watch your head!” she’d shout before her foot whizzed by one of her brother’s ears as she tested out her flexibility. Wherever she went, she sang in a lovely, lilting voice and a peal of delighted laughter followed her.



Thousands of years ago, the Gitxsan built a settlement on the river Xsan, which translates roughly into “river of mists,” across the water from a jagged mountain that towers 1,700 metres above the valley. They called the village Temlaham, meaning “prairie town,” and it grew into a large community. Perhaps 4,500 years ago, a section of the mountain perched upon a pocket of air let loose and roared down into the valley, burying Temlaham and blocking the river, which prevented the Pacific salmon, which many depended on, from making the journey upstream to spawn. It forced widespread migration across the region as people sought new food sources. Some of the people displaced by the landslide resettled at Gitanmaax, on a tongue of low-lying land at the point where the Bulkley River flows into Xsan. With its rivers and a series of overland trails, the village became a trading hub, connecting communities farther inland to the Tsimshian on the coast.

In the mid-1800s, fur traders and gold prospectors arrived, soon followed by a Western Union Telegraph Company exploration team seeking a telegraph line to connect North America to Russia. In 1866, the Hudson’s Bay Company opened a post near the confluence of the rivers, and early settlers dubbed the area Hazelton. That post soon closed and plans for the telegraph line were scrapped, but Hazelton remained a bustling supply stop for surveyors, traders and hopefuls chasing gold. As Europeans moved in, the people of Gitanmaax left their village and moved uphill to a bluff overlooking the now-colonial town and rivers. The Hudson’s Bay Company reopened in 1880, and during the next decade the first sternwheeler churned its way up the river, which settlers dubbed the Skeena, bringing a new wave of Europeans and transforming Hazelton into the largest town in the northwest, with three hotels, the Hudson’s Bay Company warehouses, a hospital, a bank and stores, including a jeweller and a watchmaker.

Arthur Sampson, Matilda’s father, grew up in Gitanmaax in the early years of the twentieth century. As a young man, he had a team of Belgian workhorses that he used for farming and logging. Sometimes, the Hudson’s Bay Company hired the young man and his horses to shuttle supplies from its warehouses in Hazelton to other settlements along ancient routes known as grease trails. The corridors were named for the oily eulachon fish that First Nations people had for thousands of years carried along the trails from the coast to trade with inland communities. Settlers later widened these trails to make way for the stampedes headed for the gold fields. Bear Lake, 120 kilometres northward as the crow flies, was a traditional meeting place of Gitxsan, Dakelh and Sekani people. In the 1820s it became the site of Fort Connolly, a Hudson’s Bay Company trading post, and remained a vibrant hub after the fort closed in the late 1800s. The journey to Bear Lake from Hazelton was a long, hard one; it took days to reach the community, even when conditions were good, and more often than not, they weren’t. During one of these trips, Arthur and Mary met.

The two soon married and settled in Bear Lake. It was a remote place in those days; it still is. Arthur hunted and fished for food, and along with other family members served as the midwife for the births of his first six children. They kept a stainless steel container stocked with clean white sheets and cotton batting blessed by a priest, which no one was allowed to touch until the new baby came. A few years after the end of the Second World War, all the kids fell ill. Arthur and Mary managed to break the fevers of all but the youngest, Louise, who was just a toddler. There were no doctors, no medicine, and she died of pneumonia. Her parents were devastated. They packed up their surviving children and headed back to Gitanmaax. There was a hospital in Hazelton—in 1950, Matilda was the first of their children born into the hands of a doctor rather than a family member—and schools. There was also an RCMP detachment; a murder in Bear Lake had left Arthur and Mary fearing for the safety of their family. Gitanmaax would be a better place for the children.

First the government came for Matilda’s older siblings. And then it came for her. Arthur and Mary tried to stop the authorities, but there was nothing they could do—the RCMP made it clear that any resistance would be met with arrest. They lost all of their children to residential schools.

Matilda was put on a train in Hazelton when she was five years old. She cried and cried. The conductor was a kindly man who tried to comfort her. He told the children that it would be okay. It wasn’t. When they arrived at Lejac Residential School, an imposing, three-storey brick structure with a smattering of outbuildings on Highway 16 near the shores of Fraser Lake, staff took the kids’ clothes, shaved their heads and marched them into cold showers. Matilda was assigned a number in place of her birth name. They were at Lejac to learn the white man’s ways, to have the “savage” within them extinguished. They picked up English quickly—they were strapped or walloped if they were caught speaking their own language. The children were subjected to sexual abuse, beatings, starvation and neglect. Sometimes they tried to run away. One winter, four boys were found dead, frozen, out on the ice of a lake a few miles from their homes. Matilda learned what hunger and loneliness and fear were at that school.

Back in Gitanmaax, Arthur and Mary crumbled without their children. Alcohol filled the chasm left by the eastbound train. When Matilda returned home seven years later, her parents tried to put their lives back together, but it was never the same. “It did something to my mom and dad,” said Matilda. “They got into alcohol really bad because they missed us so much. It did something to us, too. It just kept going from one generation to the next. Most of us just didn’t really care what happened to us for a long time.” Mary died of a heart attack when Matilda was twenty-four. One night five years later, a taxi dropped off her father on the road leading to Gitanmaax. A drunk ran him over, killing him.

Matilda married when she got pregnant at fifteen. By her twenty-first birthday, she had five children—Brenda, who was the eldest, and four boys. A couple of years later, she was widowed, and she moved to Smithers, about seventy-five kilometres southeast along Highway 16. It’s a picturesque town, built beneath Hudson Bay Mountain in the early 1900s as a divisional headquarters for the railway where the inland hills meet the jagged, snow-capped peaks of the coastal ranges.

Main Street runs perpendicular to the highway that bisects Smithers. The stretch between the railway tracks and Highway 16 comprises seven blocks of trendy shops that sell fishing and hunting gear, mountain bikes, downhill skis, clothing and sushi. On the other side of the highway, Main Street runs uphill past the museum, the volunteer fire hall, houses and apartments and a recently closed pub, before dipping back down to the Bulkley River. Smithers is a little tidier, a little more touristy, than many of the communities strung along the highway. In the late 1980s, its town council passed a bylaw requiring storefronts on Main Street to adopt an alpine architectural theme to complement a statue of Alpine Al—the town mascot, a mountaineer blowing a horn—erected in 1973. Some merchants called the rule “monotonous, silly and a lot of trouble to conform to.” One business owner, who was slapped with a stop-work order after failing to clear the replastering of an exterior wall with the alpine theme committee, erected “a pair of giant lederhosen” on the side of his building to express his displeasure. A town councillor, Doug McDonald, criticized the Alps theme for being unrepresentative of Smithers’ multicultural makeup. The town itself was largely white, with only 120 people in 1991 identifying as Aboriginal. Its immigrant population was just more than 10 per cent, almost entirely from Western Europe. However, nearby communities like Hazelton had higher proportions of First Nations residents, and the Wet’suwet’en reserve of Witset, called Moricetown by settlers, was just thirty kilometres away. “Where’s the longhouse at the end of Main Street?” asked McDonald. Still, the alpine theme stuck.



It was tough as a single mom with six kids to feed; there was never much money. But the family got by. They had each other. And they had Ramona. As she grew into a teenager, Ramona stayed bubbly and busy. She was well liked in her social circle, a girl always ready to lend an ear, to cheer up anyone who was feeling down. She was about twelve years old when she sat down at the kitchen table while Matilda was making bread. “Mommy,” she announced, “I decided what I want to be.” “And what do you want to be?” Matilda asked. “I want to be a psychologist, so I can get into people’s minds and I can help them,” she said. Matilda smiled. “Oh, that sounds good,” she said. “That sounds like you.” They made a plan: when Ramona graduated high school, she would go to the University of Victoria to study psychology. No one in her family had gone to university; none of her siblings had graduated from high school. In the district in which Smithers Secondary lies, the estimated Grade 12 completion rate for Indigenous students in 1997/98 was less than 24 per cent, almost three times lower than the overall rate. But Ramona was going to do it. “She had so much to prove by doing it,” said her best friend, Kristal Grenkie.

At fourteen, Ramona took up baseball, playing outfield for the team sponsored by the Native Friendship Centre, where Brenda worked. She got a job washing dishes at Smitty’s, a chain diner-style restaurant beside a car dealership on the frontage road just off Highway 16 that served enormous breakfasts, enormous burgers and unlimited coffee refills. She was a reliable employee, never missing a shift or calling in sick. She skipped school quite a bit, preferring coffee with friends to sitting through classes. A former high school administrator remembered calling her into the office to admonish her for her poor attendance record; he remembered how Ramona thanked him for caring and taking the time to talk to her.

Ramona was sneaking out of school one day, making her way down the short hallway that opened toward the smoke pit to avoid science class when she bumped into Kristal, who was doing the same thing. They’d seen each other around. It was a small town, and a relatively small high school, with about seven hundred students across four grades. Kristal and an older friend, Delphine Nikal, had hung out with Ramona’s older brothers years before. “Want to go for a coffee?” Kristal asked, and Ramona agreed. The pair headed across the high school parking lot and crossed Highway 16 to the restaurant at the Aspen Inn to pass the afternoon in a smoky booth.

Kristal and Ramona were soon best friends. Kristal, who is white, started to find her way when she met Ramona. She had run pretty wild up until then. She’d spent time in youth detention—juvie, as it was called—for assault, and hung out with an older crowd that was into drinking, drugs, partying and fighting. With Ramona, it was different. Ramona wasn’t much of a partier and, hanging out with her, Kristal slowed down. Once in a while, the girls would smoke a joint down on the riverbank and wander through town, talking about the big stuff: the purpose of their lives, what it all meant. Ramona was spiritual. She wanted to reconnect to the culture and traditions so nearly extinguished in her family. She wrote a lot of poetry. She believed that everything happened for a reason. Kristal’s friendship with Ramona remains one of the deepest relationships she’s ever had. “She was the kind of person that you couldn’t not [connect with],” said Kristal. Ramona believed in kindness, in forgiveness, in understanding, with wisdom far beyond her years.
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Ramona Wilson was a bright, bubbly teenager who dreamed of becoming a psychologist.



One afternoon during the fall, when Ramona was fifteen and just starting Grade 11, Matilda was walking down Main Street, a few blocks from their home. She noticed her teenaged daughter coming up the street and, nearby, an elderly woman struggling with a bag. Matilda watched, full of pride, as Ramona approached the woman, took her bag and helped her across the street. Matilda was waiting on the other side. “Oh, God, Ramona, you are so beautiful,” Matilda told her. “Thank you so much. Now I know I’m not going to be afraid to grow old.” Ramona just laughed. “Mom, since when would you ever grow old?”

On Friday, June 10, 1994, Ramona burst through the door of the house on Railway Avenue. She had just found out that she’d got a summer job as a peer counsellor with Smithers Community Services Association. She was ecstatic as she discussed with her mom plans to give notice at Smitty’s and the feeling that, yes, now, at sixteen, things were falling into place. It was, she told her mom, the best day of her life.

The next day was the climax of grad weekend in Smithers. The grad party was an annual tradition, a night soaked in booze when nearly everyone, even the kids who usually stayed away from raucous nights and those from ordinarily antagonistic social circles, congregated to celebrate. Teenagers piled into borrowed or beat-up vehicles and cruised up and down Main Street—the practice was referred to as “doing a Mainer,” or, more pejoratively, a “Loser Lap”—or drove out on the gravel roads to bush parties at places like the water tower, the airstrip or the Twin Falls recreation site. In the days before cell phones or social media, it was this—a physical presence on Main Street—that afforded the opportunity to find friends, parties, rides, something to do for the night.

Ramona had spent Friday night in Moricetown with her boyfriend and returned to Smithers around noon. She stopped in at Mr. Mikes Steakhouse, on Main Street near the highway, to pick up a bag of clothes from a friend who was working there. Then she headed down the main drag toward her home. Along the way, her uncle pulled up beside her and offered her a ride. He planned to be a designated driver that night and asked her what she was planning to do and if she needed a lift later on. She told him she was heading to Lake Kathlyn, just across from the airport. A fellow who lived in a rundown apartment complex out there was having a party.

Ramona slept for the rest of the day, getting up at around six. Matilda ordered takeout pasta and lasagna for dinner. Ramona was in a good mood, dancing around and singing. At nine thirty, as the sun was sinking low behind Hudson Bay Mountain and shadows enveloped the town, the phone in Ramona’s bedroom rang and she rushed off to answer it. Then she was getting ready to head out, packing her little overnight bag with her makeup, putting on her acid-wash jean jacket and her brand-new white and pink Reebok high-tops. Matilda didn’t ask who was on the phone; she assumed it was Kristal. As far as she knew, Ramona was going to her best friend’s place for the night. The two usually spent weekends together, though they weren’t always where they told their mothers they would be.

After her flurry of primping, Ramona called out, “See you, Mom.” Matilda didn’t see her at the door, didn’t watch her go, just replied over her shoulder, “See you.” Ramona headed down the alley behind her house to Alfred Avenue, which would, in a few blocks, bring her to Main Street. At the first house along Alfred, an older woman was in the front yard with her son and grandson. Ramona waved to them. At the next house, there was a bit of a party going on out back. Ramona stopped to chat with people she knew and then went on her way.

Kristal lived about a dozen blocks away, in a two-storey duplex across from the civic centre where she was attending her brother’s high school graduation. She had talked to Ramona earlier that day, and the two had planned to meet up that night at a dance in Hazelton, about seventy kilometres away. It wasn’t uncommon to travel between towns, hitching a ride with someone headed that way. Sometimes the girls would stand out on the highway, thumb out, to find a ride—though Kristal was far more likely to do that than Ramona—but more often, it was a matter of wandering down Main Street and catching a lift with an acquaintance.

When Ramona didn’t show up at the community hall in Hazelton, Kristal didn’t think much of it. It wasn’t all that unusual for plans to change, and there was no way to let each other know. She figured Ramona had gone to Moricetown; her boyfriend lived there, along with a close friend of theirs. Ramona wasn’t someone to worry about. She was the responsible one of the group. She was the one who took care of her friends when they got messed up on drugs and booze. She had four tough older brothers who made sure people knew not to mess with their sister. She was strong willed, sure of herself and her limits, and didn’t hesitate to speak up if she felt someone was being wronged or she was getting pushed around. Ramona had her shit together. She’d be fine.

And so Saturday night became Sunday, and Matilda thought Ramona was at Kristal’s, and Kristal thought Ramona was in Moricetown. Ramona’s boyfriend called her house Sunday morning looking for her; Matilda told him she was with Kristal. He called Kristal and learned Ramona wasn’t there, so he drove over to pick Kristal up, arriving at about eleven thirty. They decided to check if Ramona had made it home and went to Matilda’s that afternoon. Kristal told him to go to the door, not wanting to get Ramona in trouble if Matilda believed the girls were together. When he climbed back into the car after talking to Matilda, he said, “Nope, she’s with you.” That afternoon, Kristal called Smitty’s. They told her Ramona wasn’t scheduled to work until after school the next afternoon.

Then Sunday became Monday and Ramona wasn’t at school, but neither was their friend from Moricetown. Kristal told herself that they had probably slept in and missed the school bus. But she knew Ramona would get to town for work that afternoon, the shift when she planned to let her boss know that she would be leaving to take the job as a peer counsellor. That afternoon Kristal clocked in to her cashier job at the Petro-Canada along the highway. She told her boss she needed to make a quick phone call and went into the back office to dial Smitty’s. She asked if Ramona was there. No. She asked them to double-check the schedule, to see if Ramona was supposed to be there. Yes, but she hadn’t showed up. That’s when Kristal knew. That’s when she got scared. She picked up the phone again.

Matilda expected Ramona home after work on Monday. Instead, she got a call from Kristal, who told her Ramona hadn’t been with her that weekend, hadn’t been at school, and hadn’t shown up for work. Matilda, she said, needed to call the RCMP—something was wrong. When Kristal got off the phone, she returned to the front of the store and a co-worker who had overheard part of her conversation teased her, saying, “What’s going on? You lose your friend?” Kristal looked at him. Tears filled her eyes. “Actually, I think I did,” she said.

Matilda called Smitty’s and confirmed that, sure enough, her daughter had not come to work. She phoned Brenda, who came over straight away. They started calling around. They heard the story that she might have gone out to the apartments at Lake Kathlyn and drove out to check. They stopped in at Smitty’s in case she had showed up or called in. Nothing. They went to the RCMP station.

The police told Matilda to give her some time. Ramona was a teenager in the heady days of early summer; it wasn’t unusual for kids to take off for a few days. “What are you saying?” Matilda asked. “We’ve got to look for her. It’s not like her. I know my daughter. I know my daughter.” Matilda’s sons had been in trouble; the cops knew the family and it was not a positive relationship. In a small town like Smithers, policed by fewer than a dozen officers, if you’d had a run-in with a cop, chances were you’d see that officer again. “We actually avoided any kind of contact with RCMP, so it was difficult when we had to report Ramona missing,” said Brenda. “I had no faith in their ability to do anything.” Matilda felt the police shrugged her off, insinuating that Ramona was unhappy at home, that Matilda, a single mom on welfare, wasn’t providing a good environment for her children, that Ramona had probably run away. Ramona had sometimes stayed elsewhere for a few days, but she always, always called. She knew how much her mom worried.
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Matilda Wilson knew something was wrong when her daughter didn’t show up for work in June 1994.



The Wilsons didn’t wait to start searching. Brenda and Matilda worked the phones, keeping track of rumours and speculation, while Ramona’s brothers, aunts and uncles combed the land around Smithers. Sometimes Matilda went along with them, afraid of finding something, afraid of not finding anything. Brenda never did go out on a search; she couldn’t bear the thought of coming across her sister in the bush or in a culvert.



The first story about Ramona’s disappearance to run in the local paper, a weekly published each Wednesday, was printed eleven days after she’d walked out the door of her home. It appeared on the bottom of the front page, below the fold and the other headlines: “Japanese teacher apple of students’ eyes” and “Treaty no big mystery.” It read: “Smithers girl, 16, goes missing.” In those eleven days, Ramona hadn’t used her bank account. Her latest paycheque had sat behind the counter at Smitty’s for over a week. Her things were left untouched in her bedroom.

By then, the police were on the move, too. “We’re talking to absolutely everybody who’s seen her or heard from her,” said Const. Gerry Marshinew, a serious crimes investigator from Prince Rupert, about 350 kilometres west of Smithers, who arrived to help the resource-strapped local detachment. “So far, we’ve hit a bunch of dead ends. We’re not treating it as foul play, but we haven’t ruled that out.” The family searched desperately, but they were at a loss. There was no advice to be had, no place to go for direction or support, no guide on what to do. They kept calling Ramona’s friends, kept combing the highway, parks, party pits, riverbanks, following their instincts, their dreams. Everywhere they looked, there was nothing.

A week later, the police had searched the highway from Telkwa to Moricetown. A helicopter had scoured the Bulkley River. Officers had followed up on more than a hundred tips, all leading nowhere. Const. Ross Davidson, in charge of the investigation for the Smithers detachment, said the RCMP was running out of ideas. “We’ve run a bunch of leads into the ground and come up with nothing. We’ve got no place to point our finger. We can’t launch a ground search because we don’t know where she is.”

On July 5, the Missing Children Society of Canada arrived in Smithers to help with the search. Its executive director Rhonda Morgan had dedicated her life to looking for missing kids for the past decade, since an evening in 1984 when she was an unhappy young woman, recently divorced, working as a book binder and spending too much time at the bar. On TV one night, she caught a program that profiled the cases of three missing Alberta children. It shocked her that kids could disappear and no one seemed to hear much about it. She picked up the phone and called Kathy Morgenstern, who was the founder of Child Find Alberta, a bootstraps organization run out of a basement that did its best to pitch in when children went missing. Rhonda asked Kathy what she could do to help, and Kathy told her they needed a typewriter. Rhonda found one for her the next day. And that was that. She spent so much time volunteering for Child Find that she got fired from her day job. The search for missing kids would envelop the next twenty-five years of her life.

While Rhonda threw her time into Child Find, there was always something that bothered her. The organization looked for missing kids, doing poster campaigns and drumming up media coverage. But it didn’t really look for them. Rhonda wanted to search. She sent out letters to investigation agencies seeking their help on a case and received a response from a private investigator, Louw Olivier, in Calgary. She went to meet with him, and he agreed to look into it. Two days later, he called her to say he had found the missing boy in an orphanage in New York. Rhonda went to pick the boy up with a CTV news crew in tow. When she returned home to Calgary, Louw told Rhonda that he saw a great deal of potential in her. He encouraged her to start training for her private investigator licence.

Child Find didn’t share her interest in conducting active investigations, so she parted ways with the organization and founded the Missing Children Society of Canada. She recruited a team of former police officers along with support staff, and, case by case, they developed and honed their processes. Rhonda, despite her lack of police experience, was accepted by law enforcement; she worked hard to prove herself to them, time and again, and usually it worked. In most cases, the society’s help and resources were welcomed—they only got involved if the police approved. They could bring in forensic artists, psychologists, dog teams, psychics, ground search crews and helicopters. They conducted targeted poster distributions and media campaigns. Over the years, the society grew to have a staff of sixteen, many of them retired police detectives. It played a role in finding thousands of children.

Generally, the society wasn’t called in to help for months, if not years. It was a source of endless frustration for its staff that they were always starting from behind. But when Ramona went missing from Smithers, they heard right away. They had been there before.
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A BRICK WALL

IN JUNE OF 1992, Rhonda Morgan received a phone call at her office in Calgary from Judy Nikal, a Wet’suwet’en woman who lived in Telkwa, just east of Smithers. It was the day after the second anniversary of her daughter’s disappearance and she was looking for help.

Delphine Nikal grew up on a hobby farm near Smithers. When she was small, the walls of her dad’s bedroom were covered in pictures. Some were drawn from scratch, others torn from colouring books, some had messages scrawled in a child’s hand: “To Dad, I love you, From Delphine.” He saved them all. Delphine was creative, intelligent, lots of fun. She was the baby of the family, born on a chilly February day in 1975 at the same hospital as Ramona Wilson. Twelve years younger than the eldest child, Mary, Delphine spent her early years on the farm on Slack Road surrounded by chickens, goats, cattle and horses. She loved animals, especially horses, and moved around the large animals with a confidence and ease that escaped most kids. She started riding early and, with her sisters, packed up picnics and went exploring on horseback. Other times she would wander off into the expanse of the garden and get lost among the plants. Mary, who saw her youngest sister as her baby, too, would find her sitting in the dirt eating strawberries, eyes sparkling. “There are so many good memories, but they’re so short,” said Mary. “I wish we had a longer time with her.”
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Delphine Nikal adored her nieces and nephews and was fiercely protective of her younger friends.



Delphine’s parents split up when she was still young, and in 1986, her dad died. Delphine took it really hard—they all did. She moved in with Judy and Judy’s new husband in Telkwa, a village about eleven kilometres east of Smithers. Judy struggled with health problems and, like Matilda Wilson, had survived residential school at Lejac. Delphine was never happy there. She didn’t like Judy’s new husband, Mickey Magee, who drank heavily and tended to get “barky” when he was intoxicated.

As she reached her teens, Delphine spent a lot of time away from home, hanging out on the streets of Smithers with other girls, occasionally running afoul of the law. In 1989, she was sent away to “rehabilitation” facilities after being charged with minor offences: theft, mischief, break and enter, failure to comply. It is increasingly recognized today that incarcerating youth is harmful and counterproductive in virtually every sense, but it was far more common then, before changes to the youth criminal justice system aimed at keeping kids out of prison came into effect. At its high point in 1995, B.C. had an average of four hundred kids in custody on any given day. Then, as now, Indigenous youth were disproportionately represented in the youth criminal justice system.

While Delphine cycled through several youth facilities around the province, she stayed in close touch with her family, writing beautiful letters that ran three pages or more about how much she missed them. When she came home in May 1990, she brought them artwork and carvings she had made.
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Kristal Grenkie was close friends with Ramona Wilson and Delphine Nikal.



Kristal Grenkie was about twelve when she met Delphine and the two started hanging out. Delphine had stopped going to school by then. Like many Smithers teens, the girls spent a lot of time wandering up and down Main Street and lounging around an arcade called the Fun Centre on Second Avenue. Despite the innocuous moniker, it was a rough place, a gathering point for youths to hang out, smoke, play pool, buy drugs. It wasn’t unusual for fights to break out in the alley out behind. Youth crime and violence was an ongoing concern in Smithers, an editorial in the local paper even describing downtown as a “war zone” at night after a spate of vandalism and break and enters in the early 1990s. Around the same time, rumours circulated of an impending gang fight between First Nations youth and white kids. Although the fight never materialized and police downplayed the rumours, local leaders were concerned about racial strife among young people.

Delphine, about three years older than Kristal, was fiercely protective of her younger friend. She made sure Kristal went to school and was headed home by curfew. She steered Kristal away from situations where, Kristal came to suspect years later, people were using hard drugs. During the daytime, while Kristal was cooped up in school, Delphine wrote her long letters. She copied out the lyrics of her favourite song, Tom Petty’s “Apartment Song,” for her friend. She wanted to get her own place when she turned sixteen, a spot in the world that she could call her own.

In June 1990, Judy was in the hospital in Prince George, critically ill after a surgery had gone wrong. Mickey was spending most of his time with her at the hospital, a four-hour drive from Telkwa. Delphine went to visit regularly. Judy would later tell a reporter about how she grew stronger when her youngest daughter was there with her. She would remember how Delphine promised never to leave her, to always stay close to take care of her. While Judy fought for her life in Prince George—she spent four months that year in a coma—Delphine was in the care of an uncle, Frank Tompkins, who lived in a cabin across the yard from their house in Telkwa. She didn’t complain to Kristal about her home life, but during that period, with her mom nearly four hundred kilometres away, she didn’t seem to feel like it mattered whether she was there or not.

The afternoon of Wednesday, June 13, was warm, with temperatures in the low to mid-twenties. Around two o’clock, Delphine told her uncle that she was going to hang out with friends in town. She met up with Kristal and two other girls, and they did the usual, wandering Main Street, loitering on street corners, stopping by the Fun Centre. As evening slipped into night, Delphine, Kristal and another friend walked to the Mohawk gas station on the corner of Main Street and Highway 16. Delphine told the two girls that Judy was out of town and invited them to come back to Telkwa with her. It was unusual for Delphine to ask anyone to come to her home. Later, it would seem to her friends that she must have been afraid of something. But at the time, one girl had to work an early shift at her waitressing job and Kristal had to go to school in the morning and didn’t want to risk missing the bus from Telkwa—she’d been absent too much lately. So they said their goodbyes outside the gas station. Delphine called her uncle to say she was on her way back. Then she took a few steps to the edge of the highway in the middle of town and held out her thumb.

She was fifteen years old. She never made it home.



Delphine hitchhiked frequently. So did many teenagers and adults in Smithers and all along the Highway 16 corridor. In the remote and relatively unpopulated region of northern B.C., there was no public transportation to get from one community to another. Passenger trains between Prince Rupert and Prince George only offered service a few days a week and were expensive. Greyhound buses, similarly, had limited schedules that made them impractical. For those without their own vehicles, hitchhiking was often the only option to get to work, pick up groceries, see a doctor or go to a party. In recent years, the victims along the Highway of Tears have often been described as hitchhikers—though only three of ten from the region on the RCMP task force’s list were publicly confirmed to be hitchhiking when they were last seen. Various organizations have pushed hard to drill in the message that it is not a safe means of getting around, with public awareness campaigns and billboards along the road warning of its dangers. But in the 1980s and ’90s, it was a fairly common practice. And it still is. There remain few options.

When Delphine’s family reported her missing, the police said she had probably just taken off for a while. But it didn’t make sense to those who knew her. Judy was really sick—Delphine would not abandon her mother like that and leave her to worry. All of Delphine’s belongings were still at her home. She hadn’t said anything to her friends or family about plans to leave. Kristal couldn’t fathom why, if Delphine was planning to run away, she would have invited her friends to her house that night. Or why she wouldn’t have asked them to run away with her. They had hitchhiked to other communities along the highway before; there was no reason Delphine would hide a plan like that from her friends. It just didn’t make sense.

In those first days, with Judy in hospital in Prince George, the search fell to Delphine’s sisters and Kristal. They heard rumours that she might have gone to Granisle, a village on the shores of Babine Lake, 150 kilometres from Smithers. They drove there and knocked on every door. They tried to get missing person posters made at the local stationery store. Kristal remembered being quoted $300 for a hundred colour pictures, far more money than they had. “We just had zero resources. Zero,” said Kristal. All they could do was ask people, rely on word of mouth to spread news of Delphine’s disappearance and hope that some information would come back. “There was no, literally no, support,” said Mary. “The cops never really showed a whole lot of interest… They obviously didn’t really care.” Maybe it was because Delphine had a history with the police. “I think because she was in trouble, there was that discrimination against her from the police,” said Mary. Maybe it was racism. “Just another native, you know.”

Behind its faux-Alps facade, Smithers was fraught with racial tension during the days that Ramona and Delphine were growing up there. It had been since Europeans arrived to settle in the early twentieth century and displaced the Wet’suwet’en people who had lived in the region for at least six thousand years. “Provincial and federal policies were clearly aimed at restricting Indigenous land use and fostering northern settlement,” notes the book Shared Histories, by geographer and former Smithers resident Tyler McCreary, detailing the history of colonial settlement on Wet’suwet’en lands around Smithers. “Pushed from their lands, First Nations peoples were forced to congregate in newly created reserves or on the fringes of the new northern settlements.” When Wet’suwet’en families settled on the outskirts of town, in what came to be known as Indiantown, local officials unsuccessfully implored the military, the RCMP and Indian Affairs to remove them. In the 1920s, a public petition called for a ban on “Indians or other colored… folks” owning property in Smithers. Businesses refused to serve Wet’suwet’en patrons; another petition called for First Nations and people of Asian descent to be barred from starting a business on Main Street. The hospital was segregated, and Wet’suwet’en children were “either channeled into residential schools or denied an education entirely.” Those officially sanctioned barriers eventually came down, but Wet’suwet’en people continued to face racism, discrimination and unequal treatment at the hospital, in schools and throughout settler society.

The early colonial economy relied heavily on First Nations people as a source of labour for building the railway, clearing land for farms, logging and mining, as well as working as cleaners, hospital aides and cooks. “Engaging in paid work, Witsuwit’en were effectively adapting to the opportunities and difficulties that the settler economy introduced,” McCreary writes. But working for wages in the changing economy “fostered increasing reliance on the marketplace for items such as clothes rather than making them at home,” at the same time as settlement restricted access to land. “Railways, roads, farms, fences, and sawmills interfered with Witsuwit’en territorial access, making livelihoods on the yintah increasingly difficult to practice.” Government policies that restricted Indigenous people from traditional means of subsistence, such as hunting, trapping and fishing, came into force throughout the early twentieth century. By mid-century, increasing industrialization was rendering many jobs obsolete at the same time as a new wave of European settlement came to the valley. What jobs were available went to white people first. “With decreased demand for Witsuwit’en workers, post-war economic growth did not fully extend to Witsuwit’en people but instead increased their relative poverty,” McCreary writes. Government restrictions did lift over the years, but the increasing number of settlers, along with commercial industry and fisheries, had reduced the amount of fish and wildlife. Many Wet’suwet’en families had endeavoured to adapt to the colonial landscape and ensure access to education—both in settler schools and through the continuation of traditional Wet’suwet’en practices—for their children. But, as McCreary notes, “settler authorities continued to blame Indigenous families for their poverty and marginalization, and then used these conditions to justify, first, removing children, and second, removing families from their homes in Indiantown. Provincial authorities targeted Indigenous children for removal from their families so they could be raised in white, middle-class homes. Municipal authorities targeted the removal of the Witsuwit’en homes in Indiantown, clearing and redeveloping the area as part of a modernizing town.” The municipality cleared Indiantown. Some of its residents moved into Smithers, while “other families struggled with increased marginalization and were pushed further to the fringe.”

That was in the 1970s, just as several First Nations in the northwest were mounting legal challenges to have title to their land recognized by the provincial and federal governments. Unlike most places in Canada, B.C. did not undertake a treaty process when it laid claim to the territory in the 1870s. With the exception of a few areas, the provincial government refused to recognize that First Nations had rights to the land they lived on; the Crown simply took it, without consultation or compensation. A century later, in 1973, the Nisga’a, whose territory lies west of Smithers, argued before the Supreme Court of Canada that they had never ceded title to their land. The court’s decision marked the first time the Canadian legal system recognized Aboriginal title. Later, a case brought forward by the Wet’suwet’en and the Gitxsan further established Indigenous rights to the land. In 1993, the British Columbia Treaty Commission began to oversee treaty negotiations with First Nations across the province, a process that, while slow, opened the door to the reassertion of First Nations’ land rights.

The treaty process amplified racism in Smithers “big time,” remembered Bill Goodacre, a lifelong resident of the area whose family arrived in 1911 among the early waves of European settlers. Over the years Bill served a handful of terms on town council, decades as a board member of the local Friendship Centre, and as a member of the provincial legislative assembly for the region. Treaty negotiations and land claims dominated the news; the local paper, the Interior News, was full of vitriolic letters from those who feared losing their properties and businesses to First Nations, along with plenty of responses in support of the treaty process. “In those days, there was a lot of misinformation about what would happen during the treaty process—this whole idea that you’re going to lose your private land,” said Bill. “That was the rallying cry of the rednecks and, of course, it was a bogus issue right from the beginning. It was never in any jeopardy.” First Nations blockades were commonplace, and confrontations, sometimes violent, erupted. “Tensions are growing in the Hazeltons over native Indian blockades of roads preventing loggers from working in the Kispiox Valley,” declared one newspaper story. Another recounted how a group of Kitwanga “locals” aligned with logging interests lit a First Nations blockade on fire, threw gas bombs and drove a truck into it while six people were inside.

At a packed community meeting organized to discuss local land claims, a group of twenty or so white men heckled and shouted down the Wet’suwet’en speaker as he tried to explain the treaty process. Shortly afterward, Herb George, a hereditary chief, told the Interior News that his people hadn’t experienced such hostility since the struggle to win the right to vote in 1960. “Our people go into Smithers to do shopping and people say, ‘Are you going to take my business away?’ Some people won’t even look us in the eyes.” In a letter to the Interior News on October 26, 1994, Edna Dennis described how she and her family had been attacked outside a convenience store by a group of young men who hit her husband, hurled racial slurs at her and reached in the window of her vehicle, where her children sat, yelling at them. When she rushed into the store for help, the attendant refused to call the police.

Overt demonstrations of blatant racism, like the attack at the convenience store, were isolated incidents by the 1990s, said Bill, though they reflected an underlying problem that continues in the community. “The Two Solitudes is a very apt description of this town,” he said, referring to the 1945 novel by Hugh MacLennan that examines the communication, or lack thereof, between French and English Canada. He offered an example: at the Christmas dinner for seniors at the Elks Lodge, which he had attended the night before, there wasn’t one person out of 150 who was visibly First Nations. The next week, he planned to go to the Christmas dinner hosted by the Friendship Centre, where he predicted 90 per cent of the attendees would be First Nations. “We’re both living in the same geographic spot,” he said, “but we might as well be living in entirely separate communities for the amount of integration that exists.” Brenda Wilson remembered going to Catholic church services in Smithers as a child, where First Nations people sat on one side and white people on the other; she sometimes went to sit on the “white” side to raise some eyebrows. “I never really understood the word racism, I only understood what I was going through,” Brenda said. “Just knowing that I was always having to fight for myself and for my brothers, our family.” When she eventually looked up the word, she thought, “Okay. That’s what I’ve been [dealing with] my whole life since I was born.”

The segregation, and at times hostility, made its way into the halls of the secondary school. Students from elementary schools in Smithers, as well as those from surrounding communities such as Telkwa and Moricetown, all coalesced at the high school. Social fault lines existed between geographic groups, as well as the other teenage divides: there were jocks, geeks, stoners and preppies. And there were First Nations and white kids. The barriers weren’t impenetrable, but they were there. “It was quite separate,” said Kristal. “There was not a lot of integration.” In a public call for help to start a teen newspaper, a seventeen-year-old student called racism the biggest issue facing youth in the community. “There’s a lot of fighting uptown on Friday nights and no amount of community forums or teachers saying everyone should be equal is going to do anything,” he wrote. “[Racism] is the root problem that sparks so [many] other problems. A lot of the violence here stems from racism.”



The Interior News ran a story about Delphine on October 10, four months after she disappeared. It’s possible there were earlier stories, though a search on microfiche at the local museum of the issues between Delphine’s disappearance and the October article didn’t turn any up, and neither Mary nor Kristal remembered any coverage. The October article reported that the search for Delphine was expanding to all of British Columbia, though police were ruling out foul play. The officer in charge of the investigation is quoted saying hundreds of young people go missing every year in the province, with many turning up on the streets of Vancouver. “We have no indication of foul play. We’re not considering (that) at the moment,” he said. The RCMP and B.C.’s Ministry of Public Safety and Solicitor General say statistics on missing people from that long ago are not available, but figures from 2018 show nearly seven thousand reports of missing children and youths in British Columbia. Nationally, more than 90 per cent of kids are found within a week.

“It was really terrible because we knew,” said Mary. “We knew something was wrong.” The family’s efforts to find Delphine in Vancouver had turned up nothing. Judy had searched in Granisle and as far away as Quesnel, a hundred kilometres south of Prince George. The following year, there was one story about Delphine in the newspaper. Judy wanted to create a reward, but according to the Interior News, “So far, attempts to raise money or get help have proved unsuccessful.” Judy said, “I wish some people would have the same spirit as for the boy who went missing in Victoria,” referring to Michael Dunahee, a four-year-old whose disappearance the month before was met with national concern.

Rhonda wasn’t sure how Judy heard about the society. It was involved in some high-profile cases around that time, so maybe she had seen something on the news. When Judy called in June 1992, Rhonda did an initial interview to collect basic information about Delphine’s disappearance. She was immediately touched by the case, by how hard Judy was trying and how little support she seemed to have. “Judy was a sweetheart,” said Rhonda, “I liked her very much.” She made arrangements to send Fred Maile to Smithers.

Fred was a private investigator who had co-founded the Burnaby-based firm Canpro Investigative Services after retiring from a twenty-five-year career with the RCMP. He had worked what was then Canada’s most notorious serial killer case. In a spree that lasted twenty months, career criminal Clifford Olson murdered at least eleven kids in B.C.’s Lower Mainland. “When distraught parents initially complained about police inaction and to speculate about the existence of a serial killer, investigators downplayed such fears. They insisted it was likely the missing teens had run away,” noted a Vancouver Sun article about Olson’s death in 2011. The RCMP was heavily criticized for its actions, as Olson, despite being a suspect, wasn’t apprehended and continued to kill. When finally he did confess, it was to Fred, who soon was riding around in the back seat of a police car tape-recording Olson as the serial killer took officers to his victims’ remains while recounting what he had done to them.

Fred arrived in Smithers on April 5, 1993, to look for Delphine. As was the protocol, he met with police and Delphine’s family to glean all the information he could about the case. He established a timeline of the days before Delphine went missing, including a recent run-in with the law. “There were a lot of rumours in the beginning saying that Delphine had run away,” said Rhonda, “and part of that came from speculating that she didn’t want to face the music. We quickly ruled that out, though.” They reached out to contacts in Vancouver’s Downtown Eastside, where runaway youths from the north often wound up and where rumours had put Delphine, but there was no sign of her. “Plus we couldn’t find any reason why—she didn’t tell anybody she was leaving,” said Rhonda. Aside from rumours, there was nothing to suggest she’d taken off. To be sure, when Fred returned to the Lower Mainland, he scoured the streets of the Downtown Eastside, checking in with frontline workers and service providers—needle exchanges, social services, shelters—and residents for any sign of her. It is a geographically small area, beset with grinding poverty and a population struggling with mental health issues and addiction, but it is a tight-knit community where people keep an eye on each other and myriad organizations work. If Delphine had gone there, she almost certainly would have come into contact with the people who live there and the agencies that work there. He didn’t find any trace.

Fred also learned that Delphine’s cousin, also from the Smithers area, was missing. Cecilia Nikal, born in 1971, boarded a bus in Smithers with a friend in August 1989, heading to Vancouver to visit her mother. According to Fred’s report, Cecilia called the woman who had raised her since 1983 a few days later to say she was okay and would be back in Smithers in a couple of weeks. But she never returned. It’s not clear whether she showed up in Vancouver. Cecilia was never registered with the Missing Children Society, but Fred decided to investigate her disappearance. “Cecilia, because she disappeared so close to Delphine… Fred took her very seriously,” said Rhonda. “We took her on as a ‘piggy back’ to Delphine’s case.” He looked for her in Vancouver, too, but found no sign she’d been there. “I’m convinced she wasn’t there,” said Rhonda, though Mary said a family member had seen her there.

A few months later, in July of 1993, the society returned to the northwest to follow up on a tip that had come in shortly after Delphine went missing. A man who drove a postal truck had found a bloody shoe along Highway 16 about halfway between Smithers and Prince George. “We wanted to do a search of the area to make sure it was cleared,” said Rhonda. The society flew in a pair of cadaver dogs, trained to locate human remains, from Portland, Oregon. But when they arrived, they found that in the time since the discovery, road construction crews had dug up the area to widen the highway. Rhonda recalled, “It was felt that if there had been a body there, the construction crews would have come across the remains, or the heavy equipment further buried her. We put the dogs in anyway and came up with nothing.” They also brought the dogs to an area along the Bulkley River about eight kilometres east of Smithers in response to a clue from a psychic, but again found nothing.

One of the most promising leads, to Fred and Rhonda, came from a woman who helped Judy and the society extensively in their search efforts. She had spoken with someone who worked at the Mohawk gas station on the corner, where Delphine had parted ways with her friends, who claimed to have seen Delphine getting into a car that night. Although the woman had lost her notes and couldn’t remember the name of the witness, she did remember the description of the vehicle: a red sports car. When Fred asked Judy if she knew of anyone with such a car who Delphine might have known, Judy had a name. (Rhonda said she can’t disclose it—the investigation is still open.) In his report, Fred wrote, “It is evident the police have conducted a very thorough investigation and have systematically eliminated all sightings and confirmed information to date as negative.” Fred has since passed away and Rhonda does not have his notes. There is no mention in her files of how, or whether, police dealt with the sports-car tip. “I don’t know if it was properly looked at.”

It wasn’t until June 1994, in the midst of the Wilson family’s comparatively high-profile campaign, that Delphine’s name began to appear a little more regularly in the local paper. As Kristal said, “If you think Ramona was not reacted upon, Delphine was even worse.” Fred told a reporter that he was convinced the person responsible for Delphine’s disappearance was from the Smithers or Terrace area and recommended a media blitz, including a re-enactment of her getting picked up along the highway. The story quoted his August 1993 report: “One cannot help but feel that someone must have witnessed her hitchhiking and possibly being picked up… Efforts should also be in place to have the municipality and/or native association offer a substantial reward, which should be part of the news blitz.” It was the Missing Children Society of Canada that eventually coordinated a re-enactment and offered up the $10,000 reward for information on Delphine or Ramona. The RCMP sent Const. Gerry Marshinew from Prince Rupert to help the smaller detachment with the investigation into both missing girls. In July 1994, he told the Interior News that police didn’t know if the two disappearances were connected: “I can’t say yes or no because I don’t know. There’s nothing linking them at the moment.” By August, the increased attention seemed to be helping—police had received more than 175 tips from across the province. In the town, however, there was a ripple of acknowledgement, but no outcry, no swell of support. “I don’t recall a whole lot of activity going on around it,” said Bill Goodacre. “It was just a sad undercurrent.”
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